
 1

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
WINDHAM, CT 
Special Meeting 

 
 MINUTES 

 
The Windham Planning & Zoning Commission held a special meeting on July 14, 2011 
in the Meeting Room, Town Hall.  Chair Paula Stahl called the meeting to order at 7:00 
P.M.  Members present were Victor Rayhall, Jean Chaine, Dawn Niles, Dan Lein, Claire 
Lary and Paula Stahl.  Juan Montalvo was absent. Also present were Town Planner James 
Finger and Zoning Enforcement Officer Matthew Vertefeuille. 
 
I)  Approval of Minutes. 
 
Dawn Niles made a motion to approve the minutes of June 23, 2011 and Vic Rayhall 
seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
II) New Business 
 
Public Hearing on Proposed Revisions to the Windham Subdivision and Zoning 
Regulations as follows: 
 
1)  Public Hearing on Proposed Changes Affecting the Downtown Area. 
 
a)  Revise the B-1 District of the Windham Zoning Regulations and revise the B-1  
District boundary.    
 
 b) Create a B-1A District with zoning regulations and boundary to encourage and  
permit an urban environment similar to the B-1 District, but at a lesser density as a 
transition between surrounding zones. 
 
c)  Revise Section 73 - Alcoholic Beverages of the Windham Zoning Regulations to  
reflect changes to the B-1 regulations regarding restaurants serving alcohol. 

 
Chair Paula Stahl re-opened the public hearing on the proposed changes affecting the 
Downtown Area; the B-1 District, creating a B-1A District and revising Section 73 on 
Alcoholic Beverages.  At the last meeting the commission reviewed the proposed 
changes to the Downtown area and listened to the comments and concerns raised by 
commission members, as well as comments from the audience. Changes incorporated 
after the last meeting are:  
 
Section 31.2 (Permitted Uses) is basically staying the same.  The Permitted Uses in the 
B-1 flow directly down to the B-2 and the revised Permitted Uses will also flow to the B-
2.  She said we have created a new area called Other Uses.  These are Permitted Uses 
which are exclusive to the B-1 and the B-1A.  
 



 2

At the last meeting we talked about outdoor seating. This language may be different, but 
the goal is to permit outdoor seating at a restaurant as long as it does not create a 
disturbance after midnight.    
 
Section 31.3.6.  There was some misunderstanding about the Main Street Historic 
District, said Stahl.  Our Main Street is indeed in a Historic District, and is listed on the 
National Register.  She referred to maps that show the district boundaries.  She said the 
wording has been revised to make it a little clearer and to mention the fact that it is on the 
National Register.  
 
Section 31.4.3.  Chair Stahl said based on comments made by the DeVivo family some of 
the items listed in this section have been deleted because they are in conflict with Section 
73.   
 
Timothy DeVivo, owner of the Nathan Hale, YMCA and former Windham House 
buildings voiced concern with the off-street parking provisions, which state that parking 
facilities and parking lots should be set back from Main Street at least 25 feet.  He felt 
that 25 feet was excessive and recommended a setback requirement of 10 to 15 feet. 
 
Chair Stahl told Mr. DeVivo that this is an accommodation for his project.  She said as 
she was writing the revisions she realized that the DeVivo family wanted to put parking 
there to support the development across the street, and you could not have done that. 
 
Commissioner Chaine said if parking is not a requirement in the B-1 why are we 
spending time on this.  Chair Stahl said we are allowing them to put parking in.   It is not 
required, but a developer may want to provide parking as an incentive for tenants to 
come. 
  
Section 31.4.4d.  At the last meeting, Kent Mawhinney, a Downtown developer, urged 
the commission to include an accommodation for historic buildings that need to be 
demolished for structural failure.  These buildings could be replaced with an almost 
replica of what was there, but with smaller unit sizes, she said. 
 
Section 31.5  This section was revised.  At the last meeting we were asked to strike out 
the beginning of the sentence dealing with gasoline filling stations; vehicular repair etc in 
order to make it flow better.  She said although this section was changed, the intent is the 
same.    
 
Section 31.7 Setbacks.  Chair Stahl said we contacted the Town Attorney regarding the 
setbacks for the B-1 District because we are trying to accommodate very tight 
development in the B-1, and allow people to put buildings very close together, including 
a common wall.  She reviewed the language submitted by Attorney Rich Cody, adding 
that this language will accomplish what we want it to do. 
 
B-1A District.  All the Permitted Uses and Other Uses in the B-1 are also in the B-1A. 
 



 3

Same phraseology regarding gasoline stations as in Section 31A.4.1. 
 
Setbacks.  Changed to same type phraseology that is in the B-1.  Moved “parking within 
the setbacks abutting a residential district” to Special Regulations.  She said all the 
dimensions remain the same as in the first draft.   
 
Section 73 – Alcoholic Beverages.  Chair Stahl said we need to reflect the fact that 
Section 73 in the Downtown now also includes the B-1A. 
 
Section 73.5.2.  Separation distance for a café permit is 100 feet. 
 
Commissioner Jean Chaine referred to notes from the previous meeting.  He said it 
appears that the square footage has been dropped from 699 to 650.  He asked if that was a 
recent change or is that because of comments at the last public hearing.  Chair Stahl said  
prior to the first public hearing she looked at different developments in town and looked 
at the square footage to make sure that what we were proposing was realistic.   
 
Commissioner Jean Chaine referred to Section 31.3.2 regarding restaurants closing their 
outdoor activities at midnight.  He said he has a problem with trying to dictate how a 
small business man should operate his business, but he does have empathy for neighbors, 
which clearly this original language is all about.  He referred to those facilities that have 
an outdoor activity area in general.  If that activity is only human voices, it is far more 
tolerable if it is in proximity to neighborhoods, he said.  I have a problem asking a 
business that has an outdoor extension of their facility to shut it down at midnight. I think 
this is overkill, he said. But, we could stipulate that the business not have any amplified 
sound outside (loud speakers, a band etc). This would accomplish, as a compromise, part 
of what we want it to do, yet satisfy the businessman and the neighbors.  Commissioner 
Dawn Niles said the Town has a noise ordinance which could control noise.  Jean Chaine 
said we may need some changes in the language to address the noise level.  
 
He said it was mentioned that the kinds of facilities that have outside seating are 
primarily serving food and alcohol and, perhaps businesses that do take-out need to be 
handled separately from the outdoor seating requirements.  Chair Stahl said the easiest 
way to handle that is to create a bullet to that regulation.             
 
Commissioner Claire Lary referred to Section 31.3.6b which says no more than 75% of 
total dwelling units can be 450 to 650 square feet, but it doesn’t specify what the rest are.  
She said this a little vague.   
 
Audience comments: 1) Heather Meehan, who owns two properties in the B-1 and also 
two properties in the B-1A referred to her building on 820 Main Street, which they have 
operated out of for over 25 years, and another property on Valley Street.  Some of the 
uses that I have in my buildings don’t quite fit into the proposed uses, she said.  Chair 
Stahl said those uses would be automatically grandfathered in.  Ms. Meehan said she just 
wants to make sure that once these regulations are adopted that she will be in compliance.  
ZEO Matt Vertefeuille confirmed that existing uses would be grandfathered.  He said the 



 4

proposed regulation would allow residential units on the first floor of a building in the 
back of a building in the B-1 District.  In the B-1A District, we would allow you to use an 
accessory building as a dwelling unit in order to bring it up to code.  Ms. Meehan then 
referred to parking downtown being very scarce.  She suggested that the commission take 
that into consideration.  Chair Stahl said under the current regulations you cannot put a 
parking lot on Main Street.  The new regulations would permit a parking lot like the 
Chapman Block (which is next door to the Meehan property) with a landscaped buffer at 
the sidewalk edge.  There are no parking requirements for the Downtown so if a new 
business were to build on the Chapman Block they would not be required to supply 
parking.  2) Mr. Marsalisi said at the previous meeting a remark was made that the 
commission veered from the guidelines in granting the hospital approvals.  I would agree 
that the commission did veer from the guidelines because you gave them approval for 
30,000 square feet, plus you gave them approval for two future buildings.  When it comes 
to the H.C. Murray building I think you are veering again.  My understanding is that this 
board is saying that it is okay to put in more public housing.  There has to be a reason to 
have more public housing.  Windham has more public housing than any other community 
in the State, and that is what is killing us.  Chair Stahl said we are talking about housing, 
not public housing.  It is not what you are thinking, she said.       
 
Chair Stahl said as there were no other comments from the public, or from the 
commission, the public hearing was closed. 
 
The commission reviewed and proposed the following changes:  
 
Section 31.3.5 - change the separation distance from 25 feet to 15 feet.   
 
Section 31.3.2  put a period after the word take-out.  Allow outdoor seating with hours 
and use to be determined by the Zoning Enforcement Officer based on proximity, as well 
as the use of neighboring properties. Outside amplified entertainment, or amplified 
sound, shall be  prohibited from 12:00 AM to 10:00 AM.   
 
 Section 31.3.6  -  Insert “no more than 75% of the total dwelling units in the building 
shall be a minimum of 450-650 square feet”.  
 
 Section 31.4.4d  - Planner Finger cautioned against requiring any demonstration of 
defective buildings as it is an owner’s decision.  If there is some economic reason where 
it is too expensive to rebuild an old building, then they have a right to demo the building 
and replace it with something that looks similar, maybe something that fits in a little 
better.  He suggested the following language; “if a historic building must be demolished 
due to negligent circumstances, new construction should be consistent with the design 
guidelines of the Windham Business District, and that it should fit in with other 
buildings, as well as resemble the architectural period prior to 1920”.  Dwelling unit sizes 
may follow standards outlined in Section 31.3.6.  Claire Lary said we should try to make 
the regulations something that people can understand when they read them.  Chair Stahl 
suggested stating “if a historic building needs to be demolished, new construction shall be 
consistent with the design guidelines of the Windham B-1 Business District, and to fit in 



 5

with surrounding buildings that resemble the architectural period prior to 1920.  And that  
dwelling unit size may follow standards outlined in Section 31.3.6. 
 
Section 73.5.2 – Strike out 200 feet as a separating distance from a school, hospital etc 
and insert 100 feet instead. 
 
Dawn Niles made a motion to approve the changes to the B-1 District, to create a B-1A 
District, and to approve changes to Section 73 pertaining to Alcoholic Beverages as 
revised, and to approve the district boundaries. Vic Rayhall seconded the motion.  The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
2) Public Hearing on proposed changes affecting the North Windham area along 
Northridge Road up to and including the Tractor Supply Store by creating a C-4 
District with zoning regulations and boundary to encourage and permit general 
retail/commercial development with flexibility allowing the zone to be responsive to 
market trends. 
 
The proposed changes would include reclassification of the Northridge Drive area to a 
commercial district instead of its current manufacturing classification.  The new zone 
would go from the Northridge Drive area  up to the Tractor Supply Store. 
 
Chair Stahl reopened the public hearing.  She referred to changes that were made after the 
public hearing including several things brought up by Richard and Blane Cromie, 
including adding hotels, mixed use development with commercial on the first floor and 
residential on the second floor, and stating that contrasting businesses could be a Special 
Use.  Also revise the language for vehicular facilities to read the same as the language 
adopted  in the B-1.  
 
Chair Stahl said Section 39.2.7 should read “those facilities including residential, legally 
in existence on the date of these regulations”. 
 
She said she liked the format that Attorney Rich Cody put forward for how the setbacks 
are phrased.    She said she would like to include his format into the changes. 
 
Delete Section 39.10.4e – Parking because this is included in Section 71 on Parking and 
delete Section 39.10.4f – see setbacks. 
 
She opened the hearing for public comments. 
 
Richard Cromie, who owns property in the Northridge Drive area, said he was hoping the 
Commission would allow a few more uses in the proposed new zone.  He said he 
submitted a letter to the commission which stated that under the proposed changes, mini-
warehouses/self-storage facilities, warehouse, distribution centers, wholesale sales are 
prohibited in the proposed zone.  He is asking the commission to allow, as a Special Use, 
the above uses.  In addition he would like to see residential uses included in the new 
zone.  



 6

 
He then went on and addressed the following:   
 
Section 39.2.6 – He said a significant portion of his land dips way down from Northridge 
Drive, and for all practical purposes would never be used for anything other than a 
residential  use because of the topography.  He suggested adding the following language; 
no residences on the first floor would be allowed within 700 feet of Route 6, but 
residences would be allowed on the first floor beyond 700 feet of Route 6. 
 
Section 39.2.3 – Add professional business offices to the proposed uses in the C-4 Zone. 
   
Section 39.3 Special Uses - He asked that mini-warehouses/ self storage facilities, 
warehouse and distribution centers and wholesale sales be included in Special Uses.  He 
said these uses would require approval by the commission.  He said Northridge Drive 
Extension is only used by Home Depot.  We understand that one of the concerns you may 
have had regarding a distribution center would be truck traffic.  Traffic in and out of 
Northridge Drive Extension is minimal, and there are no residences or other businesses 
on that street at all.  The topography demand is such that any warehouse facility or 
distribution center would undoubtedly use Northridge Drive Extension.  In addition, there 
is an existing traffic light on Route 6 near the Home Depot site.  He said we are also 
requesting that manufacturing facilities, packaging and assembly of components or goods 
facilities be included, in addition to movie theaters and other indoor and outdoor 
recreation facilities as well. 
 
Section 39.6 – Setbacks.  Mr. Cromie said Sears Hardware Center, which is in the center 
of our property, has a 10-foot parking setback, and we would ask that Northridge Drive 
have the same setback. 
  
The final thing is we do not know what you mean by a mandatory connection to the 
Greenway.  We’re not sure if you would want an easement from Northridge Drive back 
to the Greenway.  We would object to that because it would eliminate the prospect of 
certain commercial development on Northridge Drive.   
 
Chair Stahl said part of what we are trying to accomplish is to implement the 2007 Plan 
of Development, which very strongly talks about making connections to the Greenway.  
What we are suggesting is that as development occurs, and if it is inappropriate, then that 
would be a future way to get to the Greenway.  This could be through a grant.  We are not 
asking you to pay for the access point, she said.  Commissioner Dawn Niles said we 
realize that this is not something that is going to happen tomorrow, but we want to give 
ourselves the option that it could happen.  Mr. Cromie said he wasn’t sure if the 
commission was asking for a 50-foot easement from Northridge Drive.  Chair Stahl said 
it would probably be closer to a 5 or 8 foot easement.  
Commissioner Jean Chaine said he sees the access as an enhancement to any property 
that is developed along that bank.  It is not a detriment.  Mr. Cromie said you need to 
clarify what the expectations are of any development.  Jean Chaine said that would be 
unfair to the property owner.  What we are saying is don’t box in to such an extent that 



 7

you cannot conveniently get access to it in the future.   ZEO Matt Vertefeuille suggested 
the following wording, “a conceptual trail connection be shown on the site development 
plan”.  Jean Chaine said that seems to fit the spirit and intent. 
 
A discussion ensued regarding the type of development the commission envisions for this 
area.  Mr. Cromie said the Willimantic market has not justified another large retail store 
such as Wal-Mart etc.  Large retailers want the prime site.  They want visibility from 
Route 6.  He said the back portion of the property could be used for professional offices, 
warehousing, indoor sports activities, etc.  Mr. Cromie said that if a good warehouse 
distribution center wanted to develop there they could come before the commission and 
you could consider it.  Chair Stahl said if you came in with something that was in a 
location that would be suitable for that use and didn’t have a negative impact on other 
opportunities out there, the commission would certainly consider that.   
 
Chair Stahl said once we get into Special Uses one of the things to remember is that there 
are other properties out there other than Mr. Cromie’s property.  If we say yes to 
something as a Special Use we are saying yes to anywhere in that zone.  She suggested 
that under Section 39.2.3 - financial services, institutions and agencies, that we add 
professional business offices.  Also under Special Uses we can add Section 39.3.2 movie 
theaters and indoor and outdoor recreational and athletic facilities.  She said also under 
Special Uses we could add warehouse and distribution centers and homes sale sales 700 
feet off Route.  We will also add a conceptual connection to the Greenway.  In terms of 
the setbacks, we need to think about a place for snow to go.  We have decreased the 
amount of parking requirements considerably so it is going to change the dynamics of 
building out there. 
 
Blane Cromie referred to Section 39.6.1b and suggested changing the language to read;  
“the setback for parking areas and driveways may be reduced depending on the nature of 
the adjacent land-uses etc”. We would like to substitute setback for side yard.  Also 
Section 39.6 – Setbacks -  clarify if the distance is 10 feet or 20 feet. 
  
Chair Stahl said she is not comfortable permitting residential uses there especially with 
distributions centers.  It seems like a mix that could be dangerous, she said.  However, 
they could come forward with a PDD.    
 
Commissioner Dan Lein said the two uses (residential and warehousing etc are not 
compatible uses and the commission would likely have to choose one or the other.  Chair 
Stahl said this would be discussed at the next meeting. 
 
Chair Stahl said the commission respects Mr. Cromie’s position because he owns a lot of 
the undeveloped land there.  We don’t want to do anything that negatively affects him, 
but we also have to think about the other properties that are there as well because there is 
the potential for quite a bit more development there once we change the parking 
regulations.   
   



 8

The public hearing was closed.  The Commission deferred action to the next meeting. 
scheduled for July 28, 2011. 
 
3) Proposed changes to the Windham Parking Regulations.  Revise Section 71 of the 
Windham Zoning Regulations to provide flexibility in determining parking requirements 
needed to meet demand. 
 
Dawn Niles made a motion to approve the changes to the parking regulations as revised 
and Jean Chaine seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
III) Other Business 
 
1) Beverage Depot Liquor & Wine, 361 Boston Post Road, North Windham – 
application for a Special Permit to establish a package liquor store in an M-1 District. 
 
The Commission took receipt of the application and will schedule a public hearing on 
July 28, 1011. 
 
2) Endorsement of Heart & Soul Grant Application. 
 
Planner Finger’s staff report explained that the Town is working on a grant application.  
This is a unique grant requiring community engagement with the hope that the 
community can integrate economic development, workforce housing, and transit services 
to reduce our energy consumption and dependence on foreign oil as well as to promote 
our unique New England character.  The grant is through the Orton Family Foundation of 
Vermont, and they want communities to commit to engage the public and stakeholders, 
especially populations that are underrepresented in community planning and to bring 
them out through an inter-generational dialogue.  Endorsing this grant application will 
require attending at least eight meetings, or as necessary. 
    
Dan Lein made a motion stating the Commission’s support of the Windham Heart & Soul 
Grant Application to the Orton Family Foundation and its agreement to attend meetings 
as necessary.  Vic Rayhall seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously.  Chair 
Stahl said this action would be forwarded to the Town Council.  
 
3)  Commissioner Dawn Niles said once revisions to the zoning regulations for the North 
Windham area are completed, she would like to focus on the South Windham Villages.  
Chair Stahl said our next meeting will include discussion regarding the B-2 Zone and 
chickens.   
 
The meeting was adjourned at 9:00 P.M. 
 
                                                                              Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
                                                                             Lillian Murray, Clerk 


